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SUMMARY OF THE CASE 

In this appeal, Samuel Bryce Silk, Jr. argues that the district court committed 

reversible error when it denied his 28 U.S.C. § 2255 petition. This Court initially 

reversed and remanded the district court’s original denial of relief finding that Silk 

had not knowingly waived his right to seek post-conviction relief. On remand, the 

district court again denied Silk’s petition declining to employ a categorical approach 

to analyze a 2013 simple assault conviction. The district court also found that Silk’s 

claim was procedurally barred and not subject to the actual innocence exception. In 

denying Silk’s petition, the district court issued a certificate of appealability. Silk 

now appeals challenging the district court’s order asserting that the categorical 

approach is the appropriate standard to analyze predicate convictions under 18 

U.S.C. § 117. As applied in this case, the categorical or modified-categorical 

approach, reveals that the Silk’s 2013 simple assault conviction falls outside the term 

“assault” under § 117. As a result, Silk did not have the requisite predicate 

convictions to support his conviction. Additionally, there is no procedural default 

for Silk’s failure to raise this issue on direct appeal because Silk’s claim invokes the 

actual innocence exception. 

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 

Silk respectfully requests 10 minutes for oral argument to discuss both of the 

issues raised below.  
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 
 

Samuel Bryce Silk, Jr. appeals from the order denying post-conviction 

petition for relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2255. The district court denied Silk’s petition 

on March 27, 2018. (App. 9). The district court issued a certificate of appealability 

under 28 U.S.C § 2253(c)(2). Id. Silk filed his Notice of Appeal on April 26, 2018. 

(App. 11). This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1291 and 2253(a). 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 
 

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED DENYING SILK RELIEF BECAUSE 
THE CATEGORICAL APPROACH AS APPLIED TO HIS 2013 SIMPLE 
ASSAULT ESTABLISHES THAT IT IS NOT A VALID PREDICATE 
CONVICTION UNDER 18 U.S.C. § 117. 

 
1. Mathis v. United States, 136 S. Ct. 2245 (2016) 
2. United States v. Hayes, 555 U.S. 415 (2009) 
3. 18 U.S.C. § 117  

 
II. SILK IS NOT PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RELIEF BECAUSE 

HIS CLAIM FALLS UNDER THE ACTUAL INNOCENCE EXCEPTION. 
 

1. Bousley v. United States, 523 U.S. 614 (1998) 
2. Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478 (1986) 
3. Jones v. Arkansas, 929 F.2d 375 (1991) 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

 Samuel Bryce Silk, Jr. was convicted of violating 18 U.S.C. § 117, domestic 

assault by an habitual offender. (App. 3). The Indictment alleged the underlying 

offense occurred on or about July 12, 2014. ( A p p .  1 ) .  The Indictment alleged 

Silk was twice convicted of domestic abuse in tribal court. Id. The first prior 

conviction was dated July 14, 2014. The second was dated on November 7, 2011. 

Id. On February 9, 2015, the parties filed a plea agreement. (App. 2). The same two 

convictions alleged in the Indictment were used to establish a factual basis in the 

plea agreement and at the change of plea hearing.  ( A p p .  2 ) ; PH 12:22-25, PH 

13:1-25, PH 14:1-23. The district court sentenced Silk to a 37-month term of 

imprisonment. (App. 3). 

On March 28, 2016, Silk filed a pro se motion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 

seeking post-conviction relief because the government failed to establish two prior, 

valid convictions necessary under § 117. (App. 4) Silk argued that his July 2014 

domestic abuse conviction, described in the Indictment, was either the same offense 

as the instant offense or not final. (App. 4). The government argued this Court 

should deny post-conviction relief because Silk, by entering a plea of guilty, 

waived his right to put the government to its burden to prove the predicate offenses. 

(App. 5). And the government for the first time described another predicate offense, 

a simple assault conviction from 2013, which it believed was valid and proper. 
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(App. 5). The district court denied Silk’s motion without addressing the merits 

finding that Silk forfeited his right to collaterally attack his conviction based on 

the collateral review  waiver in the plea agreement. ( A p p .  6 ) . Silk appealed. 

(App. 11). 

This Court vacated the district court’s order finding that it neither informed 

Silk of the waiver nor determined he understood it. Silk v. United States, 2018 WL 

1037420 *1. On remand, the district court was directed to determine whether any 

procedural issues remained prior to considering the claim’s merits and whether 

there were two final convictions prior to the underlying offense. Id. 

There was no hearing held on remand. The government argued that the plea 

agreement’s collateral review waiver was enforceable. (App. 5). The government 

next argued that Silk was procedurally estopped from collaterally attacking the 

underlying conviction. (App. 7). In addressing the merits, the government identified 

four prior convictions. They were: 

1. April 4, 2013, Bismarck Municipal Court, simple assault. PSIR ¶ 26. 
 

2. March 25, 2015, Burleigh County District Court, simple assault/domestic 
violence. PSIR ¶ 28. 

 
3. November 7, 2011, Standing Rock Tribal Court, domestic violence. PSIR 

¶ 40. 
 

4. July 14, 2014, Standing Rock Tribal Court, domestic violence. PSIR ¶ 43. 
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(See App. 7). The government summarized the factual circumstances surrounding 

each conviction. It conceded that two convictions were at issue.1 (App. 7). The first 

was a 2011 Standing Rock conviction for domestic violence. Id. The second was a 

2013 simple assault conviction from the Bismarck, North Dakota municipal court. 

Id. The government’s brief attached several documents to show the 2013 conviction 

involved: 1) an assault 2) against a domestic partner. (App. 7). The complaint alleged 

that Silk committed simple assault causing bodily injury to others in violation of 

ordinance Bismarck Municipal Code § 06-03-01. (App. 7). The register of actions 

showed Silk was found guilty and sentenced to time served. (App. 7). The police 

report attachment described the incident. (App. 7). The government argued these 

documents established a valid prior conviction. (App. 7). 

In response, Silk first argued that any procedural default could be excused 

under the actual innocence exception articulated in Bousley v. United States, 523 

U.S. 614, 622 (1998). (App. 8). Silk then argued that he did not have two qualifying 

predicate convictions to support the underlying conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 117. 

(App. 8). He claimed the 2014 and 2015 convictions identified by the government 

were improper because they each became final after the underlying assault charged 

                                            
1 The other two convictions became final after the date of the underlying offense. 
See App. 8.  
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in the indictment. Id. This left two remaining convictions, which Silk asserted should 

be reviewed applying a categorical approach. Id. 

In applying the categorical approach, Silk argued the 2013 simple assault did 

not qualify as an assault because it incriminated conduct beyond the generic 

definition of assault as required under § 117(a)(1). (App. 8). This criminal statute, a 

municipal ordinance for simple assault, permitted conviction upon a negligent mens 

rea, which fell outside the generic definition of battery or assault under common 

law. (App. 8). Silk noted that under either a categorical or modified categorical 

approach, the district court could not consider the factual circumstances underlying 

the offense to determine whether the conviction could serve as a valid predicate. 

(App. 8). Applying the categorical approach, it was uncertain whether the conviction 

fell under the negligence or the intentional element. (App. 8). Therefore, Silk argued 

the uncertainty should favor the broader element, negligence, and as a result there 

did not exist the requisite prior convictions. (App. 8). 

The district court again denied Silk’s motion. (App. 9). It found Silk’s 

challenge did not amount to actual innocence and that his petition was procedurally 

defaulted. (App. 9). The district court reasoned that Silk’s challenge was legal and 

to prevail he must show factual innocence, not legal insufficiency. Id. The district 

court then turned to the validity of Silk’s predicate convictions. Id.  
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Addressing Silk’s categorical approach argument, the district court stated that 

it had located no authority applying a categorical approach to § 117 predicate 

convictions. (App. 9). The district court was not persuaded “to employ the 

categorical approach in considering Silk’s prior qualifying domestic assault 

convictions.” (App. 9). In denying Silk’s motion, the district court issued a certificate 

of appealability under 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(2) finding that reasonable jurists could 

find the district court’s conclusions debatable or wrong. (App. 9). Silk now appeals 

the district court’s denial of his § 2255 motion. (App. 11). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The district court erred in denying Silk’s petition. First, the district court erred 

in failing to apply the categorical approach under 18 U.S.C. § 117. That statute 

requires two prior convictions for specific types of offenses, not conduct. The 

appropriate review requires a court to look only at the offense not to the nature of 

contestable circumstances. Applying the categorical, or modified categorical 

approach, reveals that Silk has at most one of the two required convictions under      

§ 117. The government identified four potential predicate convictions. Two 

convictions, however, became final after the underlying offense. Another 

conviction, obtained in the Bismarck, North Dakota, municipal court, involved a 

2013 simple assault. The statute, a municipal ordinance, permits conviction of a 

“simple assault” based on a negligent mental state. The generic definition of assault, 
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which includes common law battery, requires a more heightened mental state. 

Because negligence falls outside of the generic definition of assault, it cannot be a 

predicate assault conviction under § 117. Therefore, the district court erred denying 

Silk’s motion for § 2255 relief. 

And the district court erred finding that Silk’s petition was in procedural 

default because his claim invoked the actual innocence exception. Actual innocence 

requires proof of factual innocence. Proving predicate convictions under § 117 is not 

a purely legal argument. Because predicate convictions were elements required for 

his conviction, Silk’s claim involves actual innocence.  

ARGUMENT 
 

This Court reviews the denial of Silk’s § 2255 motion de novo. United States 

v. Van, 543 F.3d 963, 966 (8th Cir. 2008); United States v. Hernandez, 436 F.3d 851, 

854 (8th Cir. 2006). Underlying findings of fact are reviewed for clear error. United 

States v. Davis, 406 F.3d 505, 508 (8th Cir. 2005). 

The Indictment contained an invalid prior conviction. (App. 1). The July 14, 

2014, conviction became final two days after the underlying domestic assault. Id. 

The factual basis within the plea agreement contained the same prior conviction. 

(App. 2). It was used to establish a factual basis at Silk’s change of plea hearing, 

under FED. R. CRIM. P. 11(b)(3). PH 12:23-25, 13:1-25, 14:1-24. The presentence 

investigation report mentioned the same conviction. PSIR ¶ 3. Silk was   
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found guilty of violating § 117, which requires two prior convictions. The indictment 

and factual basis to support Silk’s guilty plea were deficient. On remand, and for the 

first time, the government has brought to light Silk’s 2013 municipal court 

conviction for simple assault. (App. 7). It does not qualify.  

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED DENYING SILK 
RELIEF BECAUSE THE CATEGORICAL APPROACH 
AS APPLIED TO HIS 2013 SIMPLE ASSAULT 
ESTABLISHES THAT IT IS NOT A VALID PREDICATE 
CONVICTION UNDER 18 U.S.C. § 117. 

 
A. The district court erred declining to apply a categorical 

approach to analyze the sufficiency of Silk’s 2013 
simple assault conviction 

 
On remand, Silk argued that review of his predicate convictions required 

application of the categorical approach because § 117’s reference to generic 

crimes concerns prior offenses rather than conduct underlying the offenses. 

Whether a categorical method is used to review predicate offenses under § 117 

appears to be a matter of first impression. Based on that fact alone, the district 

court incorrectly declined to apply the categorical approach. (See App. 9), (simply 

noting that it was not persuaded to employ it). 

Under a categorical approach, a court may look only to statutory definitions 

or elements of a defendant’s prior conviction and not the particular facts 

underlying the conviction. Descamps v. United States, 570 U.S. 254, 267 (2013). 

This approach is used where a statute intended a reviewing court to consider only 
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the category of offense, not what a defendant had done. Mathis v. United States, 136 

S. Ct. 2245, 2252 (2016). Courts cannot go beyond the crime of conviction to 

determine how a defendant committed the offense, and they are barred from 

determining what the defendant and state court accepted as a crime theory. Id.  

§ 117 describes categories of criminal offenses, not conduct. It reads: 
 

(a) In general.—Any person who commits a domestic assault within the 
special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States or Indian 
country and who has a final conviction on at least 2 separate prior 
occasions in Federal, State, or Indian tribal court proceedings for 
offenses that would be, if subject to Federal jurisdiction— 

 
(1) any assault, sexual abuse, or serious violent felony against a 

spouse or intimate partner, or against a child of or in the care of 
the person committing the domestic assault; or 

 
(2) an offense under chapter 110A…. 

 
18 U.S.C. § 117 (emphasis added). The statute identifies three classes of crimes: 

assault, sexual abuse, and “serious violent felony.” 18 U.S.C. § 117(a)(1). Assault 

is a generic offense. It is defined under federal caselaw. United States v. 

Whitefeather, 275 F.3d 741, 743 (8th Cir. 2002) citing United States v. Dupree, 544 

F.2d 1050, 1052 (9th Cir. 1976). Sexual abuse is defined under 18 U.S.C. § 2242. 

“Serious violent felony” is defined under federal statute and does not refer to 

conduct but to specific, generic crimes and federal statutes. 18 U.S.C.              

§ 3559(c)(2)(F). That definition includes a list of several generic crimes and 

citations to actual federal criminal statutes. Id.  
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The following subsection offenses “under chapter 110A.” 18 U.S.C.               

§ 117(a)(2). Here too, § 117(a)(2) sets forth a specific set of criminal offenses. It is 

clear from reading “assault” under § 117(a)(1) standing alone that it is not referring 

to assaultive conduct. When read with the specificity detailed in the “serious 

violent felony” and “an offense under chapter 110A,” it is obvious § 117 refers 

to offenses, not conduct. See Nijhawan v. Holder, 557 U.S. 29, 34 (2009) 

(categorical approach applies to statutory language describing generic crimes 

generally committed). Section 117 is unconcerned with the manner in which a prior 

offense was committed. 

The categorical approach has been similarly applied to 18 U.S.C. § 922(g), 

which further illustrates the applicability of that approach here. It is unlawful for any 

person convicted of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence to possess a firearm. 

18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9). A “misdemeanor crime of domestic violence” means a 

misdemeanor under federal, state, or tribal law that has “as an element, the use or 

attempted use of physical force, or the threatened use of a deadly weapon” 

committed by a domestic partner. 18 U.S.C. §§ 922(g)(9)(i)-(ii). The Supreme Court 

divided that into two requirements. United States v. Hayes, 555 U.S. 415, 421 

(2009). The first requirement includes the use of force. Id. The second requirement 

includes “committed by” a domestic partner. Id. The Court noted the two 

requirements are conceptually distinct attributes. Id. citing United States v. Meade, 
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175 F.3d 215, 218 (1st Cir. 1999). “[B]oth the use of force and a domestic 

relationship between aggressor and victim necessary elements of a qualifying 

predicate offense.” Hayes, 555 U.S. at 423. The Court concluded that the domestic 

relationship need not be “denominated an element of the predicate offense.” Id. at 

426.  

Section 117 can be similarly divided. Its element requirement includes “any 

assault.” 18 U.S.C. § 117(a)(1). Its domestic relationship requirement includes 

“against a spouse.” 18 U.S.C. § 117(a)(2). Predicates under § 117, therefore, should 

be analyzed similarly to predicates under § 922(g)(9).  

Like § 922(g)(9), § 117’s “any assault” requirement is subject to categorical 

review. See United States v. Castleman, 572 U.S. 157, 134 S. Ct. 1405, 1413 (2014) 

(applying the categorical approach to the use of force requirement); see United States 

v. Horse Looking, 828 F.3d 744, 746-47 (8th Cir. 2016) (same). In Horse Looking, 

the predicate offense involved a South Dakota state conviction for a simple domestic 

assault. Horse Looking, 828 F.3d at 746. However, this Court focused only on the 

elements making up a simple assault requirement. Id. at 747. This was done without 

reference to any domestic relationship. Id. at 746-47. This suggests separate analyses 

should be applied between the element and domestic relationship requirements, 

given Hayes. Because they are separate, the § 117’s “against a spouse” requirement 

cannot be read together with the “any assault” requirement to require inquiry to the 
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nature of the offense triggering a circumstance-based approach. Instead, because       

§ 117 also involves a similarly structured language to § 922(g), § 117’s element 

requirement should be subject to categorical review.  

B. Under the categorical, or modified categorical 
approach, Silk’s 2013 simple assault conviction does 
not meet the definition of “assault” under 18 U.S.C.       
§ 117. 

 
Silk’s 2013 simple assault conviction incriminated negligent conduct, which 

falls outside the generic definition of assault. The simple assault statute at issue is 

committed where one: 

1. Willfully causes bodily injury to another human being; or 
 

2. Negligently causes bodily injury to another human being by means of 
a firearm, destructive device, or other weapon, the use of which against 
a human being is likely to cause death or serious bodily injury. 

 
Bismarck Municipal Code § 06-03-01. Terms used in the municipal code share 

the same definition as terms defined under North Dakota statute. Bismarck 

Municipal Code § 06-01-01. North Dakota statute defines negligence as one 

acting “in unreasonable disregard of a substantial likelihood of the existence of 

the relevant facts or risks, such disregard involving a gross deviation from 

acceptable standards of conduct.” N.D.C.C. § 12.1-02-02(1)(d). Simple assault, 

under § 06-03-01, therefore, permits conviction upon mere negligence. 
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The Eighth Circuit defines assault as: 
 

[A]ny intentional and voluntary attempt or threat to do injury 
to the person of another, when coupled with the apparent 
present ability to do so sufficient to put the person against 
whom the attempt is made in fear of immediate bodily harm. 

 
United States v. LeCompte, 108 F.3d 948, 952 (8th Cir. 1997). Battery has also 

been incorporated into the definition of simple assault. See Whitefeather, 275 F.3d 

at 743 (determining that the traditional definitions of battery fall within federal 

assault statutes). “It is sufficient to show that the defendant deliberately touched 

another in a patently offensive manner without justification or excuse.” United 

States v. Lewellyn, 481 F.3d 695, 697–98 (9th Cir. 2007). “[N]oninjurious but 

intentional, offensive contact (even if relatively minor) satisfies the requirement 

for simple assault under the battery theory.” Lewellyn, 481 F.3d at 698. Intent must 

be deliberate, which is greater than negligence. United States v. Bailey, 444 U.S. 

394, 404 (1980). Deliberate means intentional, premeditated, or fully considered. 

Black’s Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). Battery requires more than mere 

negligence. 6A C.J.S. Assault § 86 (2018).  

The Supreme Court has established a hierarchy of mental states, which in 

descending order of culpability, are: purpose, knowledge, recklessness, and 

negligence. Bailey, 444 U.S. at 404. One acts purposefully if “he consciously 

desires that result, whatever the likelihood of that result happening from his 

conduct.” United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 422, 445 (1978). 
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One acts knowingly if he is aware “ that the result is practically certain to follow 

from his conduct, whatever his desire may be as to that result.” Id. at 445. Whereas, 

negligence only requires an individual to disregard a risk. See N.D.C.C. § 12.1-

02-02 (defining negligence). Because the generic definition of battery requires a 

deliberate or intentional mental state—which is hierarchically above negligence—

§ 06-03-01(2) covers at least one element broader than the generic definition of 

assault. Under a categorical approach, the 2013 simple assault conviction cannot 

qualify as a predicate offense because § 06-03-01 permits a conviction under a 

negligence mens rea. Because such a conviction can be obtained through broader 

means than its generic definition, the conviction cannot serve as a predicate 

offense. United States v. Eason, 829 F.3d 633, 642 (8th Cir. 2016). 

The same outcome occurs applying a modified categorical approach. Under 

that approach, the question first turns to whether § 117 can be divided into two 

subsections. Descamps, 570 U.S. at 258. The modified categorical approach is 

used where a statute may be violated using alternative elements. Id. at 261. Such 

statutes are divisible. Id. A court may use so-called Shepard documents to 

determine what crime was committed and which elements were used. Mathis, 136 

S. Ct. at 2249 citing Shepard v. United States, 544 U.S. 13, 26 (2005). Shepard 

documents may include the charging document, plea agreement, and plea colloquy. 

United States v. Martinez, 756 F.3d 1092, 1094 (8th Cir. 2014). From there, a court 
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uses the found crime, “as the categorical approach commands, with the generic 

offense.” Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2249. Uncertainty favors the defendant. See Eason, 

829 F.3d at 642 (finding Shepard documents did not conclusively determine 

which elements the defendant violated, and, therefore, the conviction did not 

serve as a qualifying conviction).  

Elements under § 06-03-01 are divided into two parts. One requires willful 

conduct that causes bodily injury. Bismarck Municipal Code § 06-03-01(1). The 

second requires negligent conduct. Bismarck Municipal Code § 06-03-01(2). The 

two parts are separated in the disjunctive, which suggests divisible statute. See 

Descamps, 570 U.S. at 261-62 (explaining divisible statutes). 

The Descamps Court’s rationale for limited review is that the meaning of 

Shepard documents will often be uncertain if not wrong. Further, “[a] defendant, 

after all, often has little incentive to contest facts that are not elements of the 

charged offense—and may have good reason not to.” Id. at 270. “ And during 

plea hearings, the defendant may not wish to irk the prosecutor or court by 

squabbling about superfluous factual allegations.” Id. From there, it is clear “the 

modified approach serves—and serves solely—as a tool to identify the elements 

of the crime of conviction when a statute’s disjunctive phrasing renders one (or 

more) of them opaque.” Mathis, 136 S. Ct. at 2253. “It is not to be repurposed as 

a technique for discovering whether a defendant’s prior conviction, even though 
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for a too-broad crime, rested on facts (or otherwise said, involved means) that also 

could have satisfied the elements of a generic offense.” Id. at 2254. 

In applying a modified categorical approach, the Supreme Court has noted 

that a statute’s name is irrelevant. Mathis, 126 S. Ct. at 2251. That § 06-03-01 is 

named “simple assault” means nothing. And the manner in which a defendant 

commits an offense is not relevant.  Id. Elements are the key, not facts. Descamps, 

570 U.S. at 261. 

The government included the complaint, written plea agreement, and police 

reports. (App. 7). Silk’s brief included the judgment. (App. 8). The police reports, 

included in (App. 7), may not be considered. United States v. Ossana, 638 F.3d. 

895, 903 (8th Cir. 2011). Likewise, facts within the presentence investigation 

may not be used. Id. at 903. None of the “brute facts” contained in the Shepard 

documents may determine whether subsection 1 (willful) or subsection 2 (negligent) 

applies. Mathis, 126 S. Ct. at 2248. The Shepard documents before the district court 

included the complaint, a register of actions (App. 7), and the judgment (App. 8). 

No document revealed what subsection applied.  

As discussed above, § 06-03-01 permits conviction based negligence. 

Because that definition is broader than the elements within a generic assault, the 

simple assault conviction cannot serve as a predicate. Eason, 829 F.3d at 642. 

This leaves Silk with only one qualifying conviction. Section 117 requires two 
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convictions. There is and was no jurisdiction upon which a conviction could be 

obtained. Therefore, Silk is entitled to relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2255. 

II. SILK IS NOT PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM 
RELIEF BECAUSE HIS CLAIM FALLS UNDER 
THE ACTUAL INNOCENCE EXCEPTION. 

 
Silk’s claim is not procedurally barred because he is actually innocent of 

violating 18 U.S.C. § 117. Silk did not appeal. Procedural default occurs where one 

fails to raise an issue on direct appeal. Matthews v. United States, 114 F.3d 112, 113 

(8th Cir. 1997). This may bar a petitioner from raising an issue for the first time on 

a § 2255 petition. Id. And it ordinarily requires a petitioner to establish cause for 

failing to preserve the claim and resulting prejudice. Bousley v. United States, 523 

U.S. 614, 622 (1998). An exception to the cause and prejudice requirement exists, 

however, to avoid miscarriages of justice. Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 496 

(1986). This exception exists where a petitioner can show actual innocence. Schlup 

v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298, 321 (1995).  

Actual innocence means factual innocence, not mere legal innocence. 

Bousley, 523 U.S. at 623; Jennings v. United States, 696 F.3d 759, 764 (8th Cir. 

2012); Narcisse v. Dahm, 9 F.3d 38, 40 (8th Cir. 1993). To prevail, a petitioner must 

establish that “it is more likely than not that no reasonable juror would have 

convicted him in light of the new evidence.” Cox v. Burger, 398 F.3d 1025, 1031 

(8th Cir. 2005) citing Schlup, 513 U.S. at 327.  
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Here, the district court found that Silk’s claim did not amount to actual 

innocence because it involved legal innocence. (App. 9). The district court was 

incorrect. In Jones v. Arkansas, 929 F.2d 375, 380-81 (1991), similar to the case at 

hand, this Court excused a petitioner’s default finding that actual innocence applied 

to a statute requiring predicate offenses. A jury found the petitioner guilty of an 

underlying felony offense. Id. at 376. The sentencing court then applied a separate 

habitual offender statute used to sentence the petitioner. Id. The habitual offender 

conviction was then used to enhance the petitioner’s sentence on the underlying 

offense. Id. The petitioner argued for the first time on appeal that the habitual 

offender statute used to enhance his sentence was amended after his offense and that 

the statute was inapplicable to him. Id. This Court noted that “if one is ‘actually 

innocent’ of the sentence imposed, a federal habeas court can excuse the procedural 

default to correct a fundamentally unjust incarceration.” Id. at 381, citing Smith v. 

Murray, 477 U.S. 527, 537 (1986). “It would be very difficult to think of one who is 

more ‘innocent’ of a sentence than a defendant sentenced under a statute that by its 

very terms does not even apply to the defendant.” Id. (emphasis in original). 

The Fourth Circuit applied Jones determining that a career offender 

designation based on an inadequate predicate conviction survived procedural default 

under the actual innocence exception. United States v. Maybeck, 23 F.3d 888, 893-

894 (4th Cir. 1994). In Maybeck, a plea agreement designated a petitioner to be a 

Appellate Case: 18-1908     Page: 26      Date Filed: 08/15/2018 Entry ID: 4694160  



19 
 

career offender although the petitioner did not have the requisite two prior qualifying 

convictions. Maybeck, 23 F.3d at 890. He did not object to his sentence nor did he 

appeal. Id. at 891. The Fourth Circuit concluded that the petitioner was “actually 

innocent of one of the predicate requirements for classification as a career offender.” 

Id. at 890. The Fourth Circuit noted that “[a]lthough the habitual offender provisions 

here are inapplicable for a different reason than in Jones, both defendants were 

sentenced under laws that should not have been applied to them, and the same 

principles apply.” Id. at 894.  

Like Jones and Maybeck, Silk’s conviction was based on a misapplied 

predicate conviction. The latter case involved a sentencing enhancement. See 

Maybeck, 23 F.3d at 890 (career offender sentencing designation). The former 

involved a conviction obtained under a habitual criminal statute, which increased the 

petitioner’s sentence. See Jones, 929 F.2d at 376. Silk’s challenge to his conviction 

falls squarely within the actual innocence exception as applied in Jones and 

Maybeck. Here, the factual basis was deficient. But Silk’s claim is more than a mere 

legal technicality. Following Jones, Silk’s claim of innocence amounts to a 

miscarriage of justice. 

It does not appear as though the actual innocence exception has been applied 

to predicate convictions obtained under § 117. Besides Jones and Maybeck, actual 

innocence has been similarly found in more recent cases. See United States v. 
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McClinton, 2017 WL 3381817 *3 (stating that potentially defective predicate 

convictions may establish actual innocence); see Harris v. United States, 757 F. Supp. 

2d 1303, 1310 (S.D. Fla. 2010) (concluding that the actual innocence exception 

applied to the question of the validity of § 924(e) predicates to avoid a fundamental 

miscarriage of justice); but see United States v. Pettiford, 612 F.3d 270, 284 (4th Cir. 

2010) (determining no actual innocence in challenge to 18 U.S.C. § 924(e) predicate 

convictions). Silk’s claim, however, is more compelling.  

Neither Jones nor Maybeck alleged that they were innocent of their underlying 

convictions. Compare Jones, 929 F.2d at 377 (guilty of robbery) with Maybeck, 23 

F.3d at 890 (guilty of bank robbery). Silk’s claim is not only that his 2013 conviction 

is deficient (legal innocence), but without it there is no evidence to prove an element 

necessary for conviction (factual innocence). Proof of two prior convictions is an 

element of § 117. Unlike § 924(e), for example, convictions under § 117 are not 

decided at a sentencing hearing. See United States v. Mincks, 409 F.3d 898, 901 (8th 

Cir. 2005). Without qualifying Silk’s 2013 conviction, there is no offense. In this 

sense, § 117 is more comparable to 18 U.S.C. § 922(g) which requires as an element 

that a prior conviction be submitted to a jury. United States v. Stanko, 491 F.3d 408, 

412 (8th Cir. 2007); see Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 174 (discussing 

how a “prior-conviction element” is proven); see also Model Crim. Jury Instr. 8th 

Cir. 6.18.922A-B (2014) (listing a prior conviction as an element to be determined 
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by a jury). Without the requisite number of prior convictions, there is no evidence 

concerning an element necessary for conviction. No reasonable jury could have 

found Silk guilty. This amounts to actual innocence. The district court erred finding 

otherwise. 

CONCLUSION 
 

This Court should reverse the district court’s order denying Silk’s claim under 

28 U.S.C. § 2255 and vacate his conviction. 

Dated this 15th day of August, 2018. 
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